2009-CA-00174 T

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of the case. The representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

<u>Appellant</u>

Patricia Shaver

Appellant's Counsel

Carl D. "Todd" Campbell, III F. Gerald Maples, P.A. 365 Canal Street, Suite 2650 New Orleans, Louisiana 70130

Appellee Frankie Blackwell

Appellee's Counsel

Melinda O. Johnson Allen, Cobb, Hood & Atkinson, P.A. 2512 25th Avenue Post Office Drawer 4108 Gulfport, Mississippi 39502

STATEMENT OF ISSUE

 Whether the trial court erred in dismissing Plaintiff's claims for failure to serve process based on Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 4(h) where the defendant, following Hurricane Katrina, moved, married, changed her name, and ultimately was found residing in Colorado.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from an automobile accident that occurred on 21 July 2004. Plaintiff timely filed suit against Defendant on 6 July 2007. Upon filing suit, Plaintiff diligently attempted to ascertain Defendant's whereabouts. Unable to locate Defendant, on 14 November 2007, 131 days after filing suit, Plaintiff sought an extension of time of sixty days within which to effectuate service of process, which relief was granted on 15 November 2007. During the course of that extension, Plaintiff located the Defendant who had married, changed her last name and moved to Colorado. Plaintiff, in need of additional time to perfect service, requested and the court granted an additional ten days on 18 January 2008. Defendant was served on 20 January 2008, within the ten day extension of time granted by the trial court. Thereafter, Defendant answered and took steps to participate in litigation by propounding interrogatories and requests for production on Plaintiff.

On 19 March 2008, Defendant filed a motion to dismiss, or in the alternative, a motion for summary judgment, asserting that Plaintiff failed to timely serve her complaint against Defendant within the time limit provided by Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 4(h). On 8 January 2009, the trial court granted Defendant's motion, granting summary judgment in favor of Defendant and dismissing Plaintiff's claims against Defendant. Plaintiff subsequently filed the instant appeal, asserting that the trial court erred in its ruling.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in dismissing Plaintiff's claims against Defendant Frankie Blackwell for two reasons. First, Plaintiff's diligent efforts to locate and serve Defendant, who had moved across the country and changed her last name, constitute a finding of "good cause." Second, and alternatively, Defendant waived her claim of insufficient process by actively participating in the litigation.

ARGUMENT

A. PLAINTIFF DEMONSTRATED "GOOD CAUSE."

The trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Defendant because Plaintiff demonstrated good cause for failure to serve process within 120 days of filing the complaint. Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 4(h) requires dismissal of a claim if service is not perfected upon a defendant within 120 days of filing the complaint unless plaintiff can show "good cause why such service was not made within that period."

In reviewing the trial court's grant of a motion to dismiss or a motion for summary judgment, the standard of review is *de novo*. *Burleson v. Lathem*, 968 So.2d 930, 932 (Miss. 2007) (citing *Scaggs v. GPCH-GP*, *Inc.*, 931 So. 1274, 1275 (Miss. 2006); *Park on Lakeland Drive, Inc. v. Spence*, 941 So.2d 203, 206 (Miss. 2006); *McLendon v. State*, 945 So.2d 372, 382 (Miss. 2006); *Monsanto Co. v. Hall*, 912 So.2d 134, 136 (Miss. 2005)). A trial court's determination of "good cause" is a discretionary ruling, entitled to deferential review of whether the trial court abused it discretion and whether there was substantial evidence supporting the determination. *Long v. Memorial Hosp. at Gulfport*, 969 So.2d 35, 38 (Miss. 2007). However, where the trial court's judgment involves the interpretation of legal principles, the standard of review is *de novo*, requiring a plenary review of its interpretation. *Id*.

In order to establish good cause for late service, a plaintiff must have been diligent in its efforts to effect service. *Foss v. Williams*, 993 So.2d 378, 379 (Miss. 2008) (citing *Montgomery v. SmithKline Beecham Corp.*, 910 So.2d 541, 546 (Miss. 2005)). The following are instances where good cause was recognized to have existed: when a third person's conduct resulted in the failure; when the defendant evaded service of process or engaged in misleading conduct; when plaintiff acted diligently; when understandable mitigating circumstances existed; or when the plaintiff proceeded *pro se* or *in forma pauperis*. *Holmes v. Coast Transit Auth.*, 815 So.2d 1183, 1186 (Miss. 2002) (quoting *4B CHARLES ALAN WRIGHT & ARTHUR R. MILLER, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE* § 1137, at 32 (3d ed. 2000)). In the case *sub judice*, Plaintiff was diligent *and* faced understandable mitigating circumstances. Plaintiff diligently attempted to locate Defendant and moved the court for extensions of time in which to perfect service. Defendant, meanwhile, had married, changed her last name and moved to Colorado, circumstances which understandably presented challenges to Plaintiff's diligent search.

In Fortenberry v. Memorial Hospital at Gulfport, plaintiff filed his complaint against four defendants on May 21, 1991. 676 So.2d 252, 253 (Miss. 1996). He was unable to locate one of the defendants, Dr. Mitchell. *Id.* at 254. Plaintiff requested and received two grants of additional time, the latter of which expired November 25, 1991. *Id.* He then wrote a letter to the Court, explaining his inability to locate Dr. Mitchell and advising that he would approach the Court once he found the defendant. *Id.* Dr. Mitchell had moved. *Id.* The Harrison County Circuit Court, Judge Jerry O. Terry, granted defendant's motion to dismiss. *Id.* at 252. The Supreme Court reversed the trial court decision, holding that the trial judge had erred when dismissing Dr. Mitchell. *Id.* at 256. The Supreme Court found good cause "because of the extensive efforts to locate and serve Dr. Mitchell." *Id.* Specifically, the Court stated that "Dr.

Mitchell was difficult to locate and serve with process because he had moved from the Gulf Coast area to Oxford," though remaining within the state of Mississippi. *Id.*

In Jenkins v. Oswald, the Mississippi Supreme Court upheld the trial court's denial of defendant's motion to dismiss, despite the fact that plaintiff had never filed for an extension of time and five years had passed between the filing of the complaint and service of process. 3 So. 3d 746 (Miss. 2009). After unsuccessfully attempting to serve defendant, plaintiff's only efforts to locate defendant involved "Google" searches via the Internet. *Id.* at 748. Plaintiff was eventually able to track down defendant after fortuitously seeing him in a local television commercial. *Id.* The defendant had also moved out of state. *Id.* The trial court denied defendant's motion to dismiss stating that the delay was acceptable considering plaintiff had exercised reasonable diligence. *Id.* at 749. The Supreme Court of Mississippi affirmed the ruling. *Id.* at 751.

In Foss v. Williams, plaintiff filed a complaint on 19 July 2006. 993 So. 2d 378, 378 (Miss. 2008). All defendants named in the complaint were served within 120 days, with the exception of Dr. Foss, who was served on the 121st day. *Id.* at 379. Dr. Foss filed a motion to dismiss. *Id.* The trial court denied the motion to dismiss, finding that the plaintiff had demonstrated good cause. *Id.* Plaintiff believed that associated local counsel was responsible for service. *Id.* That attorney failed to initiate service. *Id.* Plaintiff's counsel only learned of this failure 118 days after the complaint was filed. *Id.* He immediately sought to have defendant served. *Id.* The court held that this demonstrated good cause and the Supreme Court agreed. *Id.* at 380.

In *Bennett v. McCaffrey*, plaintiff filed a complaint on 7 January 2003. 937 So.2d 11, 12 (Miss. 2006). Plaintiff then requested and was granted an additional 60 days. *Id.* at 12-13. Once she received pertinent information from her insurance company concerning defendant's

whereabouts, she sought additional time to serve. *Id. at 16.* Even though defendant allowed 92 days to elapse after the expiration of her first extension before she requested her second extension, the Supreme Court stated that her "actions firmly established good cause for the delay in service." *Id.* at 17.

In each of the four cases discussed above, plaintiffs were found to have demonstrated good cause when two extensions had expired but the defendant had moved from the Gulf Coast to Oxford (though remaining in Mississippi), making it very difficult for plaintiff to locate defendant (*See Fortenberry*, 676 So.2d at 256); when they never applied for additional time in which to serve process and five years passed between filing the complaint and perfecting service (*See Jenkins*, 3 So.3d at 749); when two attorneys working on a case failed to communicate with one another regarding whose responsibility it was to serve the defendant, resulting in a mad scramble to effectuate service after 118 days passed from the filing of the complaint (*See Foss*, 993 So.2d at 379); and finally, when they waited 92 days after their first extension had expired before requesting their second extension (*See Bennett*, 937 So.2d at 17).

Plaintiff's failure to effectuate service within 120 days, in this case, is far more understandable than the plaintiffs' failures discussed *supra*. Like the defendant in *Fortenberry* who moved from the Gulf Coast to Oxford, the defendant in this case moved all the way from Mississippi to Colorado and changed her last name. And, whereas the plaintiff in *Fortenberry* allowed two extensions of time to expire without requesting a third extension of time, Plaintiff Patricia Shaver requested a second extension of time, which was granted, and service was ultimately obtained within this second extension. Unlike the plaintiff in *Jenkins* who never requested additional time and allowed five years to pass before perfecting service, the plaintiff here requested and received additional time in which to serve within 131 days and Plaintiff perfected service (in Colorado) within 200 days. While there was a period of eleven days in

which Plaintiff technically was not operating under an extension, in *Bennett*, the plaintiff allowed 92 days to elapse upon expiration of their first extension before requesting their second extension and the court found that good cause existed.

For these reasons, Plaintiff in the case *sub judice* was more diligent than the plaintiffs discussed above, all of whom were held to have demonstrated good cause for their failure to timely effect service. Namely, Plaintiff requested and was granted additional time, Defendant married and changed her last name, and Defendant moved from Mississippi to Colorado. Despite the mitigating circumstances making it very difficult for Plaintiff to locate Defendant, Plaintiff's diligence and persistence eventually resulted in service of process upon Defendant while Plaintiff was operating under an extension of time granted by the Court.

B. <u>DEFENDANT WAIVED HER OBJECTION TO INSUFFICIENCY OF PROCESS</u> BY PARTICIPATING IN LITIGATION.

Alternatively, the trial court erred in dismissing Plaintiff's claims because Defendant's participation in the litigation constitutes a waiver of objections to insufficiency of process. In *East Mississippi State Hospital v. Adams*, the Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's denial of defendants' motion to dismiss, holding that defendants had waived their objections to insufficiency of process by participating in litigation. 947 So.2d 887 (Miss. 2007). In large part, the participation in the litigation there involved participating in discovery in the form of interrogatories and production requests. The defendants there literally complied with Rule 12(h) in that they "properly and timely raised the defenses of insufficiency of process and insufficient service of process in their answer." However, the court held that their subsequent participation in the litigation was a waiver of those defenses.

Here, after making a special appearance to request additional time to respond to the complaint and filing her motion to dismiss, Defendant answered and propounded interrogatories

and requests for production of documents (which Plaintiff answered). This active participation in the litigation of this case constitutes Defendant's waiver of objections to insufficiency of process.

CONCLUSION

Plaintiff demonstrated good cause for failure to timely serve defendant. Alternatively, Defendant waived any objection to insufficiency of process by participating in the litigation of this case. As such, the trial court's order granting Defendant's motion for summary judgment, thereby dismissing Plaintiff's claims, should be reversed. Thus, Plaintiff requests that this court reverse the trial court's decision granting Frankie Blackwell's Motion to Dismiss or, in the alternative, Motion for Summary Judgment and remand the case to the trial court for further proceedings.