IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PATRICIA SHAVER

APPELLANT

VERSUS

NO. 2009-CA-00174

FRANKIE BLACKWELL

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HANCOCK COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI HONORABLE JERRY O. TERRY, CIRCUIT JUDGE DOCKET NO. 07-00249

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Melinda O. Johnson (MS Bar No. 9498)

ALLEN, COBB, HOOD & ATKINSON, P.A.
One Hancock Plaza, Suite 1212

Post Office Drawer 4108

Gulfport, MS 39502-4108

Telephone: (228) 864-4011

Facsimile: (228) 864-4852

ATTORNEYS FOR THE APPELLEE

Oral Argument Not Requested

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PATRICIA SHAVER

APPELLANT

VERSUS

NO. 2009-CA-00174

FRANKIE BLACKWELL

APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Rule 4(h) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides that where service of the summons and complaint are not made upon a defendant within 120 days after filing of the complaint and the plaintiff cannot show good cause why such service was not made within that period then the action shall be dismissed as to that defendant without prejudice. It is undisputed that the Plaintiff failed to serve the Defendant with the summons and complaint within 120 days

after filing the complaint. There is no genuine issue of material fact that exists in this case. The circuit court properly found that "Plaintiff has not demonstrated good cause for failing to serve process within 120 days of filing the complaint." The Defendant did not waive her Rule 4(h) defense in this matter by minimal participation in written discovery. The Defendant actively pursued her Rule (h) defense and did not contribute to any delay in having her motion to dismiss heard. Therefore, the circuit court's order of dismissal was proper and should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court has previously held that a trial court's finding of fact on the existence of good cause or excusable neglect for delay in service of process has been deemed "a discretionary ruling... and entitled to deferential review" on appeal. *Montgomery v. SmithKline Beecham Corp.*, 910 So.2d 541, 544-45 (Miss 2005), *citing Rains v. Gardner*, 731 So.2d 1192, 1197-98 (Miss. 1999). When reviewing such fact-based findings, the Court will "only examine whether the circuit court abused its discretion and whether there was substantial evidence supporting the determination." *Id.* The trial court's decision will not be reversed unless the trial court's discretion is abused or is not supported by substantial evidence. *Long v. Memorial Hospital at Gulfport*, 969 So.2d 35, 38 (Miss. 2007), *citing Bennett v. McCaffrey*, 937 So.2d 11, 14 (Miss. 2006). Where the trial court's judgment involves the interpretation of legal principles, this Court will conduct a de novo, or plenary, review of its interpretation, and reverse only where it finds the trial court in error. *Id.* Here the circuit court's order of dismissal was based on a fact-based finding rather than on interpretation of legal principals, therefore, the deferential standard of review should apply.

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S ORDER OF DISMISSAL IS SUPPORTED BY THE LAW AND THE SUBSTANTIAL AND UNCONTRADICTED EVIDENCE

It is undisputed that Plaintiff did not serve the summons and complaint on the Defendant within 120 days after filing of the complaint. Rule 4(h) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides:

(h) Summons: Time Limit for Service. If a service of the summons and complaint is not made upon a defendant within 120-days after the filing of the complaint and the party on whose behalf such service was required cannot show good cause why such service was not made within that period, the action *shall* be dismissed as to that defendant without prejudice upon the court's own initiative with notice to such party or upon motion. (Emphasis added).

The circuit court's order of dismissal of defendant without prejudice cites the following uncontested facts: 1) On July 6, 2007, Plaintiff filed a complaint against Defendant due to a car accident which occurred July 21, 2004; 2) On the day the complaint was filed, a summons was issued to Defendant in Perkinston, Mississippi, however, Defendant could not be found; 3) The summons return noted that Defendant moved to Colorado; 4) On November 14, 2007, approximately 131 days after filing the complaint, Plaintiff filed a motion for additional time to serve the complaint; 5) An order was entered November 15, 2007 allowing Plaintiff sixty additional days to obtain service of process; 6) the summons was re-issued to no avail; 7) On January 18, 2008 Plaintiff filed her second motion for additional time to serve; 8) The motion was granted on January 18, 2008 and gave Plaintiff ten additional days to obtain service; 9) On January 20, 2008, Defendant was served by leaving documents with her husband at their home in Colorado. (R. at 97-99). In addition to those facts cited by the circuit court in its order of dismissal, there are numerous additional facts that are not in dispute in this case. Obviously, Plaintiff did not serve the summons and complaint on the defendant within 120 days after filing of the complaint. Plaintiff had notice of Defendant's relocation to Colorado as early as July 19,

2007; however, no action documented by the record was taken by the Plaintiff for 118 additional days. At that point, November 14, 2007, one hundred and thirty one (131) days after filing the complaint, Plaintiff filed her first motion for additional time to serve complaint. It is undisputed that this initial motion for additional time to serve complaint was not timely filed within 120 days after filing the complaint. Further, the Defendant's uncontradicted affidavit establishes that she has not avoided or evaded service of process in this matter. (R. 73, Tr. 7). To the contrary, the Defendant's unrefuted affidavit shows that she left a forwarding address with her local United States Postal Service in Stone County prior to moving to Colorado and she has not hidden her current residence from public records. (R. 73, Tr. 5). The Circuit Court's order of dismissal was proper pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(h) and is supported by the substantial uncontested facts in this case.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S FINDING THAT GOOD CAUSE DID NOT EXIST FOR PLAINTIFF'S FAILURE TO SERVE PROCESS IS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION

The law is clear that a complaint shall be dismissed for failure to serve process within 120 days unless Plaintiff can show "good cause" for failing to meet the deadline; the Plaintiff bears the burden of establishing good cause. Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(h), *Kingston v. Splash Pools of Mississippi, Inc.*, 956 So.2d 1062, 1064 (¶ 6) (Miss.Ct.App. 2007). In order to demonstrate good cause, a Plaintiff "must demonstrate at least as much as would be required to show excusable neglect, as to which simple inadvertence or mistake of counsel or ignorance of the rules usually does not suffice." *Bacou-Dalloz Safety, Inc. v. Hall*, 938 So.2d 820, 823 (¶12) (Miss. 2006). There are several instances where the Court has previously recognized the existence of "good cause," specifically: "when the failure is a result of the conduct of a third person; when the defendant has evaded service of process or engaged in misleading conduct; when the plaintiff has acted diligently; when there are understandable mitigating circumstances; or when the plaintiff is proceeding *pro se* or in *forma pauperis*." *Foss v. Williams*, 993 So.2d 378, 379 (¶ 6) (Miss.

2008), citing Holmes v. Coast Transit Authority, 815 So.2d 1183, 1186 (Miss. 2002). None of the recognized instances apply to the facts of this case. To the contrary, the facts and procedural history in this case do not support Plaintiff's assertion that she was diligent and faced mitigating circumstances.

With regard to Plaintiff's claim of diligence, the record reflects Plaintiff made only one (1) attempt to issue the summons or to serve Frankie Blackwell with the summons and complaint within the allotted 120-day period. (R. 7). The return pertaining to that initial attempt was dated July 13, 2007 and was filed July 19, 2007 and indicated that Defendant could not be located in Stone County and "moved to Colordo." [Sp.] (R. 8). Nevertheless, it was not until January 8, 2008 that Plaintiff requested a second summons to be issued to the Defendant; unexplainably at the same Perkinston address. (R. 12). It appears from review of the record that no attempt at service of the January 9, 2008 summons was made. A third summons was requested on January 14, 2008, this time for the Colorado address, and was ultimately served six (6) days later. (R. 18-19). Plaintiff's inaction without adequate explanation demonstrates lack of good cause on the part of Plaintiff far beyond excusable neglect. Bacou-Dalloz Safety, Inc. v. Hall, 938 So.2d 820, 823 (¶13, 14) (Miss. 2006)(dismissal proper where plaintiffs made only two attempts at service and failed to file the recommended motion for extension of time within the 120-day time period). Plaintiff claims in her brief that she "diligently attempted to locate Defendant," however, she provides no specifics and the record is silent as to her actual attempts.

Plaintiff further asserts in support of her claim of diligence that she moved the court for extensions of time in which to perfect service. As stated previously, it is not disputed that Plaintiff failed to file a motion for extension of time within the allotted 120-day time period. The time to serve process may be extended provided the motion for additional time for filing service of process is filed before the expiration of the 120-day time period following filing of the

complaint. Kingston v. Splash Pools of Mississippi, Inc., 956 So.2d 1062, 1064 (¶ 8) (Miss.Ct.App. 2007), citing Mitchell v. Brown, 835 So.2d 110, 112 (¶ 10) (Miss.Ct.App. 2003). The 120-day time limit lapsed on November 3, 2007, eleven (11) days prior to when Plaintiff filed her first motion for additional time to serve complaint. (R. 9-10). Failure to file the motion for additional time within the 120-day time period further supports a finding of lack of diligence on the part of Plaintiff.

In Montgomery v. Smithkline Beecham Corp., 910 So.2d 541, 546 (¶ 17) (Miss. 2005), Plaintiffs filed their first and second motions for additional time within the 120-day rule or within the extended period, however, the third motion for additional time was filed after the expiration of the second extension. Although the Plaintiffs had three orders granting an extension of time to serve process entered by the circuit court and argued that the circuit court was "bound by its own order granting an extension of time to serve process," the Mississippi Supreme Court disagreed and held that Plaintiffs did not demonstrate good cause for failing to serve process within 120 days of filing the complaint or within the subsequent extension periods, and affirmed the circuit court's dismissal of the action. Id. at ¶¶ 10, 28.

In Lucas v. Baptist Mem. Hosp.-North Miss., Inc., 997 So.2d 226 (¶ 6) (Miss. App. 2008), the plaintiff failed to serve process during the 120-day time period set forth in Rule 4(h) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure or within the additional 120-day time period granted by the trial court in response to a motion for additional time. Plaintiff argued that he demonstrated "good cause" for failure to timely serve the hospital as plaintiff's counsel was "experiencing severe difficulties within his practice" that prevented him from obtaining process sooner. Id. Citing other holdings on the topic, the Court found that plaintiff's counsel's heavy caseload during the period did not establish "good cause." Id. at ¶ 10, citing Moore v. Boyd, 799 So.2d

133, 136 (¶ 7) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001), LeBlanc v. Allstate Ins. Co., 809 So.2d 674, 677 (¶ 14) (Miss. 2002), Heard v. Remy, 937 So.2d 939, 944 (¶ 21) (Miss. 2006).

Plaintiff argues that there are understandable mitigating circumstances in this case that made it very difficult to locate Defendant and these circumstances establish good cause or excusable neglect for her failure to timely serve the Defendant. The only mitigating circumstances identified by Plaintiff are that Defendant married and changed her name and moved to Colorado. This argument has been previously considered and addressed by the Court of Appeals in Kingston v. Splash Pools of Mississippi, Inc., 956 So.2d 1062, 1063 (¶ 3) (Miss, Ct. App. 2007). In that case, during the year and eleven months between the initial filing of the complaint and ultimate service of process, defendant Donna Parker Withrow remarried and changed her name and address. Id. Just like the Plaintiff in this case, Kingston cited difficulties in serving process because Withrow had changed her name but Kingston provided "no specifics as to how, when and where the process server made attempts to effectuate service of process were given to the court, and an affidavit from the process server was not provided to show any sort of detail that could have demonstrated good cause." Id. at ¶¶ 4, 10. Similar to the hearing in the present case, no evidence was presented to the circuit court to establish good cause "beyond broad assertions of diligence." Id. at ¶ 8. The Court commented that some level of detail is required to demonstrate a showing of good cause in that a plaintiff must show "at least as much as would be required to show excusable neglect, as to which simple inadvertence or mistake of counsel or ignorance of the rules usually does not suffice." Id. at ¶ 11 citing Watters v. Stripling, 675 So.2d 1242, 1243 (Miss. 1996) (quoting Systems Signs Supplies v. U.S. Dep't of Justice, 903 F.2d 1011, 1013 (5th Cir. 1990). Because the record is void of any detail of diligent effort made to serve process in the present case, this Court should likewise hold that the lower

court did not abuse its discretion in dismissing this case for failure to serve process within 120 days as prescribed by Miss. R. Civ. P. 4 (h).

Similar to the facts set forth in Mitchell v. Brown, 835 So.2d 110, 112 (¶ 7) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003), it appears that the Plaintiff obtained the Defendant's Perkinston address for service of process from the Mississippi Uniform Crash Report that was, at the time of the filing of the complaint, almost three years-old. (R. at 7, Appellee's R.E. at 5). Obviously the Plaintiff made no effort to verify that address through the United States Post Office as Defendant left a forwarding address the month prior, June 2007, when she moved to Colorado. (R. at 73). Also, the Defendant's mother, Annie Anderson, who was a passenger in the Defendant's car at the time of the subject wreck, was named in the Mississippi Uniform Crash Report and her address was noted therein; "34 F Anderson Road, Perkinston, MS." (Appellee's R.E. at 5). The record is silent as to whether Plaintiff attempted to contact Ms. Anderson to inquire as to her daughter's address. The Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court's dismissal of Mitchell's complaint based on Rule 4(h) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure as that ruling was supported by substantial evidence showing that Mitchell failed to carry his burden of establishing good cause or excusable neglect. Id. at ¶ 9. The circuit court's dismissal of Plaintiff's complaint in this case should likewise be affirmed.

Plaintiff cites Fortenberry v. Memorial Hosp. at Gulfport, Inc., 676 So.2d 252, 256 (Miss. 2008) as an example of "good cause" where the defendant doctor had moved and was "difficult to locate." The Fortenberry case is distinguishable from this case in that Fortenberry met his burden of proof regarding good cause in that he filed two timely requests for extension of time to serve the doctor and he provided detail pertaining to his efforts to locate the doctor, specifically, by contacting several hospitals, all defense counsel of record, and the state medical license board and ultimately he hired a private investigator. *Id.* at 255. Plaintiff in this case has

not provided any detail of efforts, if any that she made to locate Defendant after learning that Defendant had moved to Colorado. To the contrary, Defendant has provided a sworn affidavit establishing that she was not "difficult to locate," in that she left a forwarding address with her local post office before moving to Colorado. (R. 73).

Likewise, Plaintiff relies on Jenkins v. Oswald, 3 So.3d 746, 747 (Miss. 2009) as an example of reasonable diligence to locate a defendant who moved out of state. In that case, Oswald actually appeared at the motion to dismiss hearing and testified that in an attempt to locate defendant Jenkins she did the following: filed an official inquiry with the United States Postal Service: hired a process server in Florida: conducted monthly internet searches via "Google;" periodically received reports from Jenkins's friends; attempted to discover whether Jenkins had re-obtained a Mississippi driver's license; confronted Jenkins and requested his cell phone number when she "ran into him" at a grocery store but later determined the cell number was "inactive;" and checked the Secretary of State site to see if he was affiliated with any valid business. Id. at ¶¶ 5-6, 14. Further, Jenkins testified at the hearing and the chancellor concluded that based on his testimony Jenkins "did not have an address that would be easily ascertained through" Google and searching telephone books. Id. at ¶ 11. Again with regard to this case, the record is void as to specifics of any effort, attempts, or inquiry, if any, Plaintiff made to locate and serve Defendant in this case. To the contrary, the record in the present case reflects that Defendant's address in Colorado could be easily ascertained through simple inquiry with the local office of the United States Postal Service.

Plaintiff cites *Foss v. Williams*, 993 So.2d 378, 379 (¶ 2) (Miss. 2008) presumably in support of her argument that she demonstrated "good cause." The facts and procedural history in the case at bar are very different from the *Foss* case, most notably in that Dr. Foss was served on the 121st day where this Defendant was served on the 198th day after the complaint was filed.

Further, in *Foss* the plaintiff argued that the one day delay in service was a result of the conduct of a third person, local counsel. Plaintiff has made no such argument in this case.

Plaintiff claims that this case is similar to *Bennett v. McCaffrey*, 937 So.2d 11 (Miss. 2006) to the extent it addresses the timing of a request for extension of time to serve the Defendant. In *Bennett*, the Court found that McCaffrey's failure to seek a second extension of time to serve process until 92 days after the expiration of the first extension period was the result of "excusable neglect." *Id.* at ¶ 15. Unlike the Plaintiff in this case, McCaffrey established good cause for her delay in serving Bennett and "used every means possible to place Bennett on notice of the lawsuit pending against him." *Id.* Upon learning that Bennett's address was incorrect, McCaffrey continued to search for Bennett's correct address by looking in the phone book, using the internet, and through inquiry with the United States Post Office, subpoenaed Bennett's insurer, and attempted to serve Bennett by publication. *Id.* at ¶ 10. Again, in this case, Plaintiff has failed to provide any details, specific dates, or other information regarding attempts she made to place Defendant on notice of this lawsuit.

Under the specific facts of this case, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in granting the Defendant's motion to dismiss or in the alternative, motion for summary judgment. Other than broad and unsubstantiated representations of diligence by the Plaintiff, the record is silent as to details of efforts made to serve process. The law is clear that a complaint shall be dismissed for failure to serve process within 120 days unless Plaintiff can show "good cause" for failing to meet the deadline. Miss. R. Civ. P. 4(h). The Plaintiff bears the burden of establishing good cause and she has failed to meet that burden given her silence as to specific information regarding attempts to locate and serve Defendant. There is no specific showing by the Plaintiff that Defendant's marriage and name change and relocation to Colorado prior to the filing of this lawsuit adversely affected her attempts at serving process in this lawsuit. To the contrary,

Defendant left a forwarding address before moving and has not hidden her current address from public records. As such, Defendant requests that this Court find that the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in dismissing this case for failure to serve process within 120 days as prescribed by Miss. R. Civ. P. 4 (h) and affirm the dismissal of this matter.

III. THE DEFENDANT DID NOT WAIVE HER RULE 4(h) DEFENSE

The Plaintiff argues that the Defendant waived her objection to insufficiency of process by participating in litigation; specifically written discovery. By making that argument the Plaintiff entirely ignores an equally important factor to the analysis required for a successful waiver of defense argument. Specifically, there are no allegations by the Plaintiff that the Defendant abandoned or delayed pursuit of her motion to dismiss based on insufficiency of process. It is undisputed that the Defendant promptly and timely filed a motion to dismiss, or in the alternative, motion for summary judgment. Defendant, in response to the prompting and request of Plaintiff's counsel through telephone calls and letters, admittedly responded to pending requests for production of documents. (Appellee's R.E. at 11). No answers to interrogatories were filed by this Defendant. Plaintiff should not now be allowed to argue that she was prejudiced by the Defendant's participation in written discovery when she herself insisted upon that participation. See Price v. Clark, 2009 WL 2183271 (¶¶ 39-40) (Miss. 2009) (plaintiff not allowed to argue that defendants waived immunity defense by not raising it where plaintiff requested that defendant not file any responsive pleadings until she was able to ascertain which defendants were subject to immunity). Further, after the hearing on the pending motion to dismiss was continued once, by the lower court's request, and only after Plaintiff's counsel had already agreed to re-set the motion hearing in December 2008, Defendant propounded interrogatories and requests for production of documents to the Plaintiff. However, the written discovery in this case did not account for any delay in the litigation nor did it delay the pending

hearing on Defendant's motion to dismiss. There were no depositions, discovery motions or hearings, scheduling orders or settlement negotiations that transpired between when the Defendant filed her motion to dismiss and when that motion was eventually heard by the circuit court.

Again, Plaintiff has not shown that participation in written discovery, without more, was sufficient to constitute a waiver of Defendant's Rule 4(h) defense. The Court's opinion in MS Credit Ctr., Inc. v. Horton, 926 So.2d 167 (¶ 41-45) (Miss. 2006) addressed the situation where the failure of a defendant to pursue a defense coupled with active participation in the litigation process constituted waiver of the defense as a matter of law. Although addressing a right to compel arbitration, the Court noted that their holding in *Horton* would apply to any defense that would result in dismissal or terminate litigation. Id. at ¶ 44. The Court held that "although participation in the litigation is an important factor to be considered, more is required to constitute a waiver." Id at ¶ 41. Further, "ordinarily, neither delay in pursuing the right to compel arbitration nor participation in the judicial process standing alone, will constitute a waiver." Id. Specifically, "a party who invokes the right to compel arbitration and pursues that right will not ordinarily waive the right simply because of involvement in the litigation process." Id. Considering whether a party has pursued a defense the Court explained "a party need only assert it in a pleading, bring it to the court's attention by motion, and request a hearing once a hearing is requested, any delay by the trial court in holding the hearing would not constitute a waiver." Id. at ¶ 45, FN 9. The Court found in Horton that the defendant unjustifiably delayed pursuit of their right to compel arbitration for 240 days or 8 months, plus substantially engaged in the litigation process by consenting to a scheduling order, engaging in written discovery, and conducting Horton's deposition before filing its motion to compel arbitration. MS Credit Ctr., Inc. v. Horton, 926 So.2d at ¶¶ 41, 45. For that reason the Court upheld the circuit court's denial of the defendant's motion to compel arbitration. The facts in this case are dissimilar to those in *Horton* as this Defendant pursued her Rule 4(h) defense and did not participate in litigation to the extent set forth in *Horton*.

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